SUPREME COURT NO. 19-1509 POLK COUNTY NO. AGCR325199

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

STATE OF IOWA Plaintiff-Appellee,

v.

JAMEESHA RENAE ALLEN Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT IN AND FOR POLK COUNTY HONORABLE DAVID PORTER, DISTRICT COURT JUDGE

FINAL BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

Gary Dickey

Counsel of Record
DICKEY, CAMPBELL, & SAHAG LAW FIRM, PLC
301 East Walnut St., Ste. 1
Des Moines, Iowa 50309
PHONE: (515) 288-5008 FAX: (515) 288-5010

EMAIL: gary@iowajustice.com

1

PROOF OF SERVICE & CERTIFICATE OF FILING

On September 2, 2020, I served this brief on the Appellant at her last known address in Des Moines and all other parties by EDMS to their respective counsel:

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

I. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING AN AMENDMENT TO THE TRIAL INFORMATION ON THE FIRST DAY OF TRIAL

State v. Cooper, 223 N.W.2d 177 (Iowa 1974)

State v. Gowins, 211 N.W.2d 302 (Iowa 1973)

State v. Hancock, 164 N.W.2d 330 (Iowa 1969)

State v. Maghee, 573 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 1997)

State v. McLachlan, 2014 Iowa App. LEXIS 941

(Iowa Ct. App. Oct. 1, 2014)

State v. Sharpe, 304 N.W.2d 220 (Iowa 1981)

Iowa Code § 708.2

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.4

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.5

II. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN ADMITTING SURVEILLANCE VIDEO WITHOUT PROPER FOUNDATION

Hutchison v. American Family Mut. Ins. Co., 514 N.W.2d 882 (Iowa 1994) State v. Deering, 291 N.W.2d 38 (Iowa 1980)

III. WHETHER TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO OBJECT TO THE ADMISSION OF STATEMENTS TO LAW ENFORCEMENT MADE BY A WITNESS NOT CALLED TO TESTIFY AT TRIAL

U.S. Const. amend. VI Iowa Const. art. I, § 10 Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36 (2004)

Davis v. Washington, 547 U.S. 813 (2006)

Everett v. State, 789 N.W.2d 151 (Iowa 2010)

Hammon v. Indiana, 547 U.S. 813 (2006)

In re J.C. , 877 N.W.2d 447 (Iowa 2016)

Ohio v. Clark, ___ U.S. ___, 135 S. Ct. 2173 (2015)

State v. Bentley, 739 N.W.2d 296 (Iowa 2007)

State v. Griffin, 576 N.W.2d 594 (Iowa 1998)

State v. Ondayog, 722 N.W.2d 778 (Iowa 2006)

State v. Paulson, 2011 Iowa App. LEXIS 903 (Iowa Ct. App. Sept. 8, 2011)

State v. Revnolds, 746 N.W.2d 837 (Iowa 2008)

State v. Schaer, 757 N.W.2d 630 (Iowa 2008)

State v. Shipley, 757 N.W.2d 228 (Iowa 2008)

ABA Standards for Criminal Justice for the Defense Function (4th ed.) 4-1.5 *Preserving the Record*

ABA Standards for Criminal Justice for the Defense Function (4th ed.) 4-7.6 *Presentation of Evidence* (4th ed)

IV. WHETHER THE PROSECUTOR VIOLATED ALLEN'S RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL BY IMPLYING THAT SHE THREATENED AN ABSENT WITNESS

Lamasters v. State, 821 N.W.2d 856 (Iowa 2012)

Ledezma v. State, 626 N.W.2d 134 (Iowa 2001)

Old Chief v. United States, 519 U.S. 172 (1997)

State v. Graves, 668 N.W.2d 860 (Iowa 2003)

State v. Ondayog, 722 N.W.2d 778 (Iowa 2006)

State v. Plain, 898 N.W.2d 801 (Iowa 2017)

State v. Redmond, 803 N.W.2d 112 (Iowa 2011)

State v. Thornton, 498 N.W.2d 670 (Iowa 1993)

ROUTING STATEMENT

Transfer to the court of appeals is appropriate.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Following a three-day trial, a jury convicted Jameesha
Renae Allen of one count of Assault While Using or Displaying a
Dangerous Weapon in violation of Iowa Code section 708.2(3).

(App. at 14; 16). The district court imposed a two-year suspended sentence, a two-year term of probation, and a \$625 fine. (App. at 23). Allen timely filed a notice of appeal. (App. at 28).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On February 3, 2019, a person later identified as Desean Waldrip called 911 to report that somebody had just "busted [his] car windows" and "stabbed [him] on Welbeck Road" in Des Moines. (Ex. 1 at 0:02). Waldrip said that he was being chased by three guys and a girl who had "bats and all types of stuff." (Ex. 1 at 0:12). He gave his initial location as the Dollar General store near Welbeck Road. (Ex. 1 at 0:15). Waldrip told the dispatcher there were "five of them" and they were "still chasing [him]." (Ex. 1 at

1:55). According to Waldrip, the individuals chasing him were in two cars—a white Ford and a blue car. (Ex. 1 at 2:10).

While still on the phone with the 911 dispatch, Waldrip fled the Dollar General and reported that a female driver "just tried to run me over. . . . They're trying to kill me." (Ex. 1 at 3:20). Video from a nearby Subway restaurant captured footage of a blue car hopping over a curb in the drive-through and knocking Waldrip to the ground. (Ex. 5). When asked if he was injured, he told the dispatcher that he was "bleeding" and "damn near dying" with injuries to his "elbow, [his] hands—everything." (Ex. 1 at 4:50). Waldrip eventually made his way to a nearby Hy-Vee grocery store. (Ex. 1 at 5:10). He told the dispatcher that the people chasing him were still in the "parking lot sitting there circling." (Ex. 1 at 5:28). While waiting for the police to arrive, Waldrip explained to a Hy-Vee manager that "he just got ran over by his girlfriend's mom." (Vol. II Trial Tr. at 27). Des Moines Police Officer Mark Stuempfig subsequently arrived at the scene. (Vol. II Trial Tr. at 13). Waldrip refused medical attention and walked

away without cooperating with the investigation. (Vol. II Trial Tr. at 13-14).

On April 2, 2019, the State filed a trial information charging Allen with third-degree criminal mischief and assault causing bodily injury. (App. at 10). In the same trial information, the State charged Allen's mother, Sheila Thomas, with assault while displaying a dangerous weapon. (App. at 10). The State later dismissed the charge against Thomas and proceeded to trial against Allen. On the second day of trial, the State filed an amended Trial Information dismissing the original counts against Allen and substituting a single count of Assault Using or Displaying a Dangerous Weapon in violation of Iowa Code sections 708.1 and 708.2(3). (App. at 14). The jury found Allen guilty. (App. at 16). The district court imposed a two-year suspended sentence, a two-year term of probation, and a \$625 fine. (App. at 23). This appeal followed. (App. at 28).

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING THE STATE TO AMEND THE TRIAL INFORMATION DURING TRIAL TO INCLUDE THE NEW CHARGE OF ASSAULT WITH A WEAPON

Preservation of Error

Allen preserved error by contemporaneously objecting to the State's motion to amend. (Vol. I Trial Tr. at 4).

Standard of Review

The standard of review is for errors at law. *State v. Maghee*, 573 N.W.2d 1, 5 (Iowa 1997).

Merits

A. Applicable legal principles

Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.4(8) governs amendments to trial informations and provides in part:

The court may, on motion of the state, either before or during the trial, order the indictment amended so as to correct errors or omissions in matters of form or substance. Amendment is not allowed if substantial rights of the defendant are prejudiced by the amendment, or if a wholly new and different offense is charged.

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.4(8). An amendment prejudices the substantial rights of the defendant if it creates such surprised that the defendant would have to change trial strategy to meet the

¹ The term "indictment" embraces the trial information, and all provisions of law applying to prosecutions on indictments apply also to informations. Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.5(5).

charge in the amended information." *Maghee*, 573 N.W.2d at 6. Likewise, an amendment adds a new and different offense if the new charge has different elements. *State v. Sharpe*, 304 N.W.2d 220, 223 (Iowa 1981).

The decision in *Sharpe* illustrates how Rule 2.4(8) operates. In *Sharpe*, the State originally charged the defendant by trial information with second-degree murder. *Id.* at 222. It later amended the trial information and substituted the crime of first-degree murder. *Id.* The Iowa Supreme Court held that the amendment was erroneous. *Id.* at 225. In particular, the court found relevant the fact that first-degree murder contains elements not found in second-degree. *Id.* at 223. Additionally, the court also noted that "there is a great disparity in punishment" between the two charges. *Id.* Accordingly, the court concluded that it would be "difficult to say that first-degree murder is not a 'wholly new and different offense' from second-degree murder." *Id.*

B. The State's amendment on the first day of trial charged a wholly new and different offense and prejudiced Allen's substantial rights

The original trial information, filed on April 2, 2019, charged Allen with two counts—third-degree criminal mischief and assault causing bodily injury. (App. at 10). On the morning of trial, the State sought to amend the trial information to substitute willful injury for criminal mischief in Count I and change the assault causing bodily injury to assault with a dangerous weapon in Count II. (Vol. I Trial Tr. at 3-22).2 The trial court denied the proposed amendment to substitute willful injury for criminal mischief on the basis that it would constitute a new charge and prejudice Allen by exposing her to a felony rather than a serious misdemeanor. (Vol. I. Trial Tr. at 18-19). The court, however, allowed the amendment to Count II to charge Allen with assault while displaying a weapon:

But for those almost exact same reasons, I will allow the amendment of the trial information as it relates to the assault while displaying a weapon, specifically the vehicle.

That, then, takes us to *State v. Brisco*. In *State v. Brisco*, the Court noted, 'Here, as in *Maghee*, the amended trial information charged violations of the

² The prosecutor asserted at trial that he had filed an amended trial information six days before trial. (Vol. I. Trial Tr. at 4). The EDMS docket, however, does not reflect any such filing.

same Code section and the same base prohibition and involved the same elements.'

So while I don't find the elements of criminal mischief and willful injury to be sufficiently identical to allow an amendment, Ms. Siebrecht, I do find the amendment of assault causing bodily injury and assault while displaying a weapon to be substantially similar.

Specifically, Iowa Code Section 708.1 defines assault. 708.2 defines the penalties for the assault. We're not transgressing over misdemeanor to felony level as we would have with the willful injury. Instead, we're going to a serious misdemeanor, effectively, to an aggravated misdemeanor.

(Vol. I Trial Tr. at 21-22).

The district court's ruling cannot be squared with *Sharpe*.

There can be no meaningful doubt that assault causing bodily injury and assault with a dangerous weapon have different elements:

Assault Causing Bodily Injury	Assault with a Dangerous Weapon
Assaultive act	Assaultive act
Apparent ability	Apparent ability

	Display a dangerous
Caused bodily injury	weapon in a threatening
	manner

Compare Iowa Code § 708.2(2) with § 708.2(3). As explained in Sharpe, the Rule 2.4(8) provides "a relatively narrow view" of amendments to an indictment. Sharpe, 304 N.W.2d at 222-23 (noting the rule merely adopted the prior statutory law). Prior case law supports this view. *Id.* at 222. For example, the Iowa Supreme Court has previously held that the State could not amend a trial information charging escape to charge willful escape because the former did not require the element of intent. *Id.* (citing State v. Gowins, 211 N.W.2d 302, 306 (Iowa 1973)). Similarly, the court has held the State could not amend the charge in an information from forgery to uttering a forged instrument for the same reason. *Id.* (citing State v. Hancock, 164 N.W.2d 330, 336-37 (Iowa 1969)). From Sharpe, Gowins, and Hancock, it follows a fortiori that the State's amendment to the trial information ran afoul of Rule 2.4(8) because it substituted a new offense with different elements. See State v. McLachlan, 2014 Iowa App. LEXIS 941 at *7-9 (Iowa Ct. App. Oct. 1, 2014)

(explaining that offenses are different when the latter expands "criminal liability by charging a separate offense, with separate elements").

The State's proposed amendment also fails because Allen was substantially prejudiced in several ways. First, the amendment enhanced the penalty from a serious misdemeanor to an aggravated misdemeanor. Second, the amended charge materially changed the elements of the offense on the first day of trial. The prosecutor kept the amendment in his pocket for months as negotiation tool and waited until the very last moment to file it:

THE COURT: Okay. As it relates to Count III, the assault while displaying a dangerous weapon, why are we now charging Ms. Allen with that effectively six days before trial when you had all those same facts on April 2?

MR. STERBICK: I believe that we had a status conference only a matter of weeks ago. I believe we had the ability to conclude this without the need for trial. That did not proceed that way. The State didn't amend the trial information prior to that date in the belief that we could resolve this case.

(Vol. I Trial Tr. at 11). But, it was clear to both the State and Allen that the complaining witness, Desean Waldrip, was not

going to testify at trial. (Vol. I Trial Tr. at 27-28, 59-60). Indeed, the State did not even try to subpoena him for trial. (Vol. I Trial Tr. at 60). Thus, it was entirely reasonable for Allen to proceed to trial on the belief that the State would not be able to prove the bodily injury element in Waldrip's absence. A "defendant has a right to rely upon the acts alleged as constituting the offense with which he is charged and rest his defense upon a lack of proof by the State of the acts specified." State v. Cooper, 223 N.W.2d 177, 180 (Iowa 1974) (finding reversible error in allowing amendment at the close of evidence). Here, the State prejudiced Allen's right to rest her defense on a lack of proof of an assault involving a bodily injury. Accordingly, the court's error in allowing the amendment requires reversal.

II. THE DISTRICT COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN ADMITTING SURVEILLANCE VIDEO EVIDENCE WITHOUT SUFFICIENT FOUNDATION

Preservation of Error

Allen preserved error by contemporaneously objecting to the State's admission of video evidence. (Vol. II Trial Tr. at 42; Vol. III Trial Tr. at 7, 28).

Standard of Review

Admission of demonstrative evidence is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Hutchison v. American Family Mut. Ins. Co.*, 514 N.W.2d 882, 889-90 (Iowa 1994).

Merits

A. Applicable legal principles

In order for surveillance video to be admissible, it "must be authenticated." State v. Deering, 291 N.W.2d 38, 39 (Iowa 1980). A "proper foundation for the admission into evidence of a motion picture film demands only that the fidelity of the film's portrayal be established." Id. at 40. This is satisfied when "a witness to the event purportedly depicted by the film testifies that the film accurately portrays the event." Id. The "requirement of preliminary proof that the picture projected from the film be an accurate reproduction of the event which it depicts" provides ample "film falsification or misrepresentation." Id. at 41. A "proper foundation laid for the accuracy of what the film portrays obviates the need to establish a chain of custody to demonstrate its authenticity." Id.

B. The State failed to offer adequate foundation to allow the admission of the surveillance evidence from the Subway restaurant

At trial, the State called the assistant manager of a Subway restaurant located across the parking lot from the Hy-Vee to which Waldrip fled. (Vol. II Trial Tr. at 33, 37). During her testimony, the State introduced into evidence a surveillance video from the Subway drive-thru showing a blue car jump a median and purportedly knock Waldrip to the ground. (Ex. 5). To lay foundation for the exhibit's admission, the State engaged in the following litany:

- Q. Where was the vehicle you saw chasing him?
 - A. It was directly behind him.
 - Q. What kind of vehicle was it?
- A. I don't know the type, but it was a white four-door car.
 - Q. Okay. Did you see a blue vehicle at all?
 - A. I did after he successfully entered Hy-Vee.

* * *

- Q. Now, the driveway -- the drive-through area of Subway, is that equipped with any sort of surveillance cameras or anything like that?
- A. Yes. There is a camera on the outside of the building facing the drive-through window.

- Q. Okay. And do you know if that camera equipment was working that day?
- A. I didn't know that camera was even there until a detective arrived.
- Q. Okay. And what alerted you to the camera being there? Just walk us through that process.
- A. The detectives asked if we had any surveillance video, and I didn't know that there was a camera there. So I \cdots he asked to talk to the owner, and the owner said, "Yeah -

* * *

- Q. So, ultimately, you know now that there's a camera there?
 - A. Yes, I looked.
- Q. And have you seen any footage of the camera working that day?
 - A. No.
- Q. If you were to see a recording that was time dated and stamped from that day capturing that day, would you have any reason to disagree with its validity?
 - A. No.
- MR. STERBICK: Your Honor, may I approach the witness?

THE COURT: You may.

MR. STERBICK: Let the record reflect I'm showing the witness what's been marked for identification purpose as State's Exhibit 5.

THE COURT: Okay.

- Q. Do you recognize what we're looking at here?
 - A. Yes.
 - Q. What is that?
 - A. That's my driveway.
 - Q. How do you recognize it?
 - A. The yellow pole that everybody hits.
- Q. Okay. Now, up here on the right are some numbers. Do you know what those represent?
 - A. Our store number, day, and time.
 - Q. And does this fairly and accurately represent the recording of that time and date? A. Yes.
- MR. STERBICK: Your Honor, the State offers Exhibit 5.

* * *

MS. SIEBRECHT: Your Honor, I would object as to foundation.

MR. STERBICK: Your Honor --

THE COURT: Counsel, why don't you approach.

(A sidebar was held.)

* * *

Q. Okay. You also testified yesterday that you saw a white car. You also saw a blue car; is that right?

A. Yes.

Q. I have --

MR. STERBICK: Your Honor, may I approach the witness?

THE COURT: You may.

MR. STERBICK: I'm going to refer to what's been marked for identification purposes as State's Exhibit 5. I'm now showing that to the witness.

(Exhibit 5 was played.)

BY MR. STERBICK:

Q. I'm pausing that at roughly two seconds. Do you see a man in that image?

A. Yes.

Q. Is that the same man that you saw running?

A. It looks to be.

- Q. Okay. There's also what looks like a correct me if I'm wrong, looks like a blue car in the video. Would you say that's the same car that you saw?
 - A. It looks similar, yes.
- Q. Is this a fair and accurate depiction of both the car and the young man that you saw running?

A. Yes.

MR. STERBICK: The State offers Exhibit 5.

THE COURT: Objections?

MS. SIEBRECHT: Foundation, Your Honor, authentication.

THE COURT: Those objections are overruled. Exhibit 5 will be admitted.

(Exhibit 5 is received into evidence.)

* * *

- Q. Okay. Do you know the young man in this picture?
 - A. No.
- Q. Do you know the defendant sitting at defense counsel table?
 - A. No.
- Q. We're just going off just your basic observations on February 3, 2019. *Did you see this event happen*?
 - A. No, I didn't.

(Vol. II Trial Tr. at 38-42; Vol. III Trial Tr. at 6-8)(emphasis added).

This colloquy was insufficient to establish foundation for the video. "A proper foundation for admission into evidence of a motion picture demands only that the fidelity of the film's portrayal be established." *Hutchison*, 514 N.W.2d at 890. Here, the witness's testimony failed to establish that the video was an

accurate portrayal. For starters, she did not know the camera even existed at the time of the events. Although she testified that she could authenticate the tape, she did not observe the event depicted in the video happen or know any of the people involved. (Vol. III Trial Tr. at 7-8). What she actually did observe—"a white four-door car" chasing "directly behind him"—is not depicted at all in the video. (Ex. 5; Vol. II Trial Tr. at 38). To the contrary, it is at odds with what she was asked to authenticate. Accordingly, the court abused its discretion in admitting the Subway video into evidence.

C. The State failed to offer adequate foundation to allow the admission of the surveillance evidence from Storage Mart

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