IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA
Supreme Court No. 19-1509

STATE OF IOWA,
Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

JAMEESHA RENAE ALLEN,
Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR POLK COUNTY
THE HONORABLE DAVID PORTER, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER
Attorney General of Iowa

DARREL MULLINS
Assistant Attorney General
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-5976
(515) 281-4902 (fax)
darrel.mullins@ag.iowa.gov

JOHN SARCONI
Polk County Attorney

LUCAS STERBICK
Assistant Polk County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

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

A. “Wholly New and Different Offense” Analysis.

Relying principally on *State v. Sharpe*, 304 N.W.2d 220 (Iowa 1981), Allen argues the two offenses do not share identical elements or punishment and thus are “wholly new and different.” Appellant’s

Pr. Br. pp. 12-18. While *Sharpe* considered these distinctions, they do not govern here.

In *Sharpe*, the State sought to amend a charge from second-degree murder to first. 304 N.W.2d at 221. The court observed first-degree murder contained elements not present in second degree murder and the difference in punishment was great. *Id.* at 223; compare Iowa Code §§ 707.1, .2 [first-degree murder], and 902.1 [life imprisonment] with 707.3 [second-degree murder] and 902.9 [25 years' imprisonment]. *Sharpe* distinguished, however, instances in which a single crime may be committed by alternative means. 304 N.W.2d at 222. This is the principle that governs here.

In *State v. Fuhrmann*, 257 N.W.2d 619, 623–24 (Iowa 1977), the Court considered an amendment to add felony-murder to a charge of first-degree premeditated murder. Iowa Code section 707.2(1) contains several alternatives of murder, including premeditated murder, felony murder, killing during an escape, killing a police officer, and certain kinds of child endangerment resulting in death. Iowa Code § 707.2(1)(a)-(f). The Court concluded the amendment did not allege a wholly new and different offense. “There is but one crime called murder in Iowa. First-degree murder may be

committed in several ways. Therefore, the amendment alleging an alternative method by which defendant committed first-degree murder was authorized.” *Fuhrmann*, 257 N.W.2d. at 624.

In *State v. Williams*, 305 N.W.2d 428, 430 (Iowa 1981), the Court considered an amendment to add conspiracy to deliver a controlled substance to two counts alleging delivery and possession with intent to deliver. *See* Iowa Code § 204.401(1) (1979) (now Iowa Code § 124.401(1)). The Court approved because “the effect of the amendment was not to add another offense but to merely add a new means of committing the same offense, drug trafficking . . .” The Court recognized that the “wholly new” language in Rule 2.4(8)(a) “preserve[s] the right to amend by charging a different means of committing an offense . . .” *Id.* at 430.

The rule governs even if the grade of offense changes with the amendment. In *Maghee*, the Court permitted an amendment to a possession with intent to deliver and conspiracy to deliver charge from a Class “C” offense to a Class “B” based on the amount of substance at issue. 573 N.W.2d at 4. Noting *Sharpe*, the Court still concluded there was but one controlled substance crime; the change of penalty did not make the amendment a wholly new or different

offense. *Id.* at 4–5; see *State v. Briscoe*, 816 N.W.2d 415, 417-19 (Iowa Ct. App. 2012) (holding same notwithstanding change of type of controlled substance).

In *State v. Schertz*, 330 N.W.2d 1, 2 (Iowa 1983), the Court considered an amendment to add first-degree kidnapping by intentionally subjecting the victim to torture to first-degree kidnapping by holding the victim as hostage or inflicting serious injury. *Id.* The defendant argued the newly charged alternative was “wholly new and different” because it required proof of different elements, but the Court rejected that elements-based test. *Id.* Instead, the Court noted, “[w]e have held that amending to add another means of committing a particular offense does not amount to alleging a new offense.” *Id.* Because the defendant remained charged with the same offense—first-degree kidnapping—the addition of a new means of committing that offense did not violate the amendment rule.

Not to put too fine a point on it, but *State v. Abrahamson*—to say nothing of *Sharpe* and *Schertz*—forecloses a *Blockberger*-style elements comparison to determine whether offenses are different for anything other than lesser-included offense analysis. *State v.*

Abrahamson, 746 N.W.2d 270, 274 (Iowa 2008); *Schertz*, 330 N.W.2d at 2; *Sharpe*, 304 N.W.2d at 223. Thus, standing the elements and punishment of one offense up against those of another does not answer the issue here.

Here, the State originally charged Allen with assault causing bodily injury and sought to amend it to assault while displaying a dangerous weapon. There are three means of committing an assault:

A person commits an assault when, without justification, the person does any of the following:

- a. Any act which is intended to cause pain or injury to, or which is intended to result in physical contact which will be insulting or offensive to another, coupled with the apparent ability to execute the act.
- b. Any act which is intended to place another in fear of immediate physical contact which will be painful, injurious, or offensive, coupled with the apparent ability to execute the act.
- c. Intentionally points any firearm toward another or displays in a threatening manner any dangerous weapon toward another.

Iowa Code § 708.1(2)(a)–(c); *see* Jury Instr. No. 11 (listing same alternative elements of assault); App. 31. At the risk of stating the obvious, the various alternatives—a harmful touch, an act intended

so, and display of a dangerous weapon—are all alternatives within a single Code section.

The following Code section governs penalties. Section 708.2(2) makes it a serious misdemeanor to cause bodily injury in an assault. Section 708.2(3) makes it an aggravated misdemeanor to “use or display a dangerous weapon” in an assault.

Thus, the district court correctly determined the amendment here did not charge a wholly new and different offense. The State may prove an assault by a variety of means. These include showing an act intended to result in offensive contact, an act intended to place the victim in fear of it, or an act of display of a dangerous weapon. *See* Iowa Code § 708.1(2)(a)–(c). The grade of offense may change depending on the alternative, but the offense itself has not changed. *Compare id. with* 708.2(2) and 708.2(3).

All the State did was allege an alternative means of committing assault. Cases from *Furhmann* to *Abrahamson* show the amendment did not charge a wholly new and different offense.

B. Substantial Prejudice Analysis.

Neither did the amendment cause Allen substantial prejudice. “An amendment prejudices the substantial rights of the defendant if it

creates such surprise that the defendant would have to change trial strategy to meet the charge in the amended information.” *Maghee*, 573 N.W.2d at 6.

Allen claims she was prejudiced in two ways: first the amendment enhanced the penalty and second she believes she was entitled to rely on an absence of proof of bodily injury. Appellant’s Pr. Br. pp. 17–18. Neither are availing.

The penalty did increase, but not substantially. The change here was one year, not the difference between life in prison and a 25-year sentence discussed in *Sharpe*. Compare Iowa Code §§ 708.2(2) and (3) with 903.1(1)(b) and 903.1(2). Certainly it is less than the change in penalty the defendant in *Maghee* faced, from a Class “C” offense to a Class “B” felony.

Allen’s reliance interest requires a fuller discussion. It is not enough to state one may rely on the State’s difficulty proving one alternative or grade of an offense. See Appellant’s Pr. Br. p. 18 (citing *State v. Cooper*, 223 N.W.2d 177, 180 (Iowa 1974)). Rather, what is important is any indication of surprise or inability to follow through on her defense. The minutes of testimony here made plain the method of Allen’s crime was driving and hitting Waldrip with her car.

Compare Maghee, 573 N.W.2d at 6 (noting minutes of testimony disclosed amount of controlled substance meeting threshold for amended grade of offense). Irrespective of amendment, the State could prove assault by display of a dangerous weapon (the car). *See Iowa Code § 708.1(2)(c)*. And, the record implies Allen’s counsel anticipated the amended charge; she filed proposed jury instructions based on the amended charges. *See Tr. Vol. I p. 19, l. 12–p. 20, l. 12* (counsel stating she filed proposed instructions for amended charge of willful injury at the direction of court administration).

Further, supporting the absence of surprise, counsel did not ask for a continuance. *See Maghee*, 573 N.W.2d at 6 (noting counsel did not ask for a continuance, the “traditionally appropriate remedy for a defendant’s claim of surprise”). Allen was not in custody and had waived speedy trial. Order Init. App. (filed Feb. 28, 2019); Waiver Speedy Tr. (filed May 2, 2019); App. 6-9, 13. If counsel were truly surprised, she would more likely have asked for a continuance. She did not.

Finally, the amendment did not change Allen’s defense. She claimed to have not been involved at all. *Id.* p. 53, l. 21–p. 54, l. 5. She recalled nothing special from the morning. *Id.* p. 53, ll. 18–20.

She claimed she had been asleep that morning and her family had her car. *Id.* p. 54, ll. 13–18. She denied assaulting Waldrip with her car or even driving it. *Id.* p. 55, ll. 5–7, p. 55, ll. 19–21. Neither did she know if anyone else did. *Id.* p. 54, ll. 8–9. Like the defendant in *Maghee*, Allen’s defense was total denial. Whether the State asserted use of a dangerous weapon or bodily injury would have no impact on this defense.

The district court properly allowed the amendment.

II. The district court did not abuse its discretion to conclude there was adequate foundation for three surveillance videos.

Preservation of Error

The state does not contest error preservation. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(3). Additionally, because this issue pertains to an evidentiary ruling, the Court may sustain it on any ground appearing in the record. *DeVoss v. State*, 648 N.W.2d 56, 63 (Iowa 2002).

Standard of Review

The Court reviews foundation rulings for abuse of discretion. *Hutchison v. American Family Mut. Ins. Co.*, 514 N.W.2d 882, 889–90 (Iowa 1994); *State v. Deering*, 291 N.W.2d 38, 41 (Iowa 1980). The Court will not disturb the ruling absent a clear abuse of that

discretion. *State v. Musser*, 721 N.W.2d 734, 750 (Iowa 2006). The appellant must demonstrate the lower court acted for “reasons clearly untenable or to an extent clearly unreasonable.” *State v. Sayles*, 662 N.W.2d 1, 8 (Iowa 2003). “Even if an abuse of discretion is found, reversal is not required unless prejudice is shown.” *State v. Buenaventura*, 660 N.W.2d 38, 50 (Iowa 2003).

Merits

Allen claims the district court abused its discretion to admit the surveillance videos from Subway, Dollar General, and Storage Mart over her foundation objection. Appellant’s Pr. Br. pp. 19–26. She does not claim any falsification or misrepresentation occurred. Nor would that matter because her defense was that she was not present. She does argue that no testifying witness saw the events in the recordings. The circumstances, however, supply adequate foundation—some of which Allen herself provided.

Admission of a photograph or video generally requires that the picture is relevant to the controversy and that the picture fairly represents what it shows. *State v. Holderness*, 293 N.W.2d 226, 230 (Iowa 1980); see Iowa R. Evid. 5.901 (stating foundation requires “[t]estimony that a matter is what it is claimed to be”). The rule does

not require any “particular methodology.” *Hutchison*, 514 N.W.2d at 890. There are some general approaches. One focuses on chain of custody. *Deering*, 291 N.W.2d at 40. Another focuses on the “photographic process employed and testi[mony] it produces accurate pictures.” *Holderness*, 293 N.W.2d at 230. Yet another employs “testimony of a person who, although perhaps not connected with the photography, observed the scene and testifies that the picture fairly shows it.” *Id.* But even without direct testimony, foundation can be established by the circumstances of the photo. *Id.*

A. Brianna Alexander confirmed the location the video showed. She said the man and the blue car were similar to those she saw at the time.

State’s Exhibit 5 showed a blue car driving over a gravel median and a man running from it, then stumbling, then walking away. St. Ex. 5 at 00:02–00:07. Brianna Alexander had been standing near the drive-through lane. Tr. Vol. II p. 34, ll. 5–16; Tr. Vol. III; see St. Ex. 3, 5. She had seen a white car chasing a man and later a blue car. Tr. Vol. II p. 38, ll. 3–22. She described the man as Black, wearing a white T-shirt, “maybe 200 pounds, medium height.” Tr. Vol. III p. 5, ll. 11–13.

Having viewed Exhibit 5, Alexander identified the surroundings and confirmed the video showed the correct store number, date, and time. Tr. Vol. II p. 40, l. 15–p. 41, l. 1. She also confirmed the video was a “fair and accurate of the depiction of the car and the young man” she had seen running. Tr. Vol. III p. 6, l. 15–p. 7, l. 1. Accordingly, the district court admitted the exhibit. *Id.* p. 7, ll. 6–7.

Allen contends the foundation was inadequate because Alexander had not known there was a surveillance system, did not know the people involved or see the specific portion in the video, and the collision she did see was with the white car. Appellant’s Pr. Br. p. 25.

But, of course, an adequate foundation does not require identity of video and eyewitness recollection. *Holderness*, 293 N.W.2d at 230. Afterall, some videos are not recordings of a specific event at all, but rather a simulation of what a witness believes occurs in a particular circumstance. *Sayles*, 662 N.W.2d at 9. Without a claim the videos falsified or misrepresented what occurred, *Deering*, 291 N.W.2d at 41, a successful foundation challenge on appeal is difficult.

Here, the witness reported the video fairly depicted the man, the blue car, the time of events, and the location. The foundation was adequate.

Furthermore, the video caused Allen no unfair prejudice. First, Waldrip's 9-1-1 call and conversation with Mr. Knapp made clear he had been chased and struck by a blue car and a white car. Second, Allen admitted she and others chased Waldrip. Third, Allen admitted driving the blue car, going up and over a curb. Fourth, Ms. Alexander, was in place near site of the collision and saw parts of the chase after. Fifth, Allen has never questioned the fidelity of the video to the morning's events. Sixth, Allen claimed she was not there; so the video's fidelity would not matter to her defense. Taken together, admission of the evidence was also harmless.

B. The Storage Mart and Dollar General videos corroborate one another. They show what no one disputes: men and a blue car chasing another man.

State's Exhibit 8 came from the Storage Mart and showed the Dollar General Store parking lot. St. Ex. 8; Tr. Vol. III p. 29, ll. 9–16. State's Exhibit 7 came from the Dollar General Store and pointed to the northeast of the Storage Mart. St. Ex. 7; Tr. Vol. III p. 33, ll. 4–23. Both videos show two men chasing a third on foot as well as a

blue car. Each has a time stamp of 11:17 to 11:19 in the morning of February 3. St. Ex. 7, 8. Detective Youngblut obtained the videos from each business. *See* Tr. Vol. III p. 31, ll. 14–16. He determined the images from the Dollar General Store corresponded to those of the Storage Mart. Tr. Vol. III p. 32, ll. 5–7. He also had reviewed the security camera at Hy-Vee. Tr. Vol. III p. 34, ll. 23–25; St. Ex. 2. And, Jameesha Allen told him several people chased Waldrip. Tr. Vol. III p. 35, ll. 3–5. “[Y]eah, that’s me. I was chasing him.” St. Ex. 6 clip 1 at 00:00–00:11. The “Ford Fusion was me, for sure.” *Id.* at 00:17–00:28. “I was driving.” *Id.* at ~00:40. “I was completely pissed off yesterday.” *Id.* clip 2 at 00:20–00:28.

As the fuller picture of Youngblut’s testimony shows, he could say the videos fairly depict the morning’s events. *See* Tr. Vol. III p. 28, ll. 2–4, p. 32, ll. 8–10.

Just as with the Subway video, admission was harmless. Allen has never claimed the videos were inaccurate. Her defense at trial was she was not there. If the jury believed her, whether the videos fairly depicted events would not matter one way or the other.

Altogether, however, the record supplies an adequate foundation for all three videos. They show what was never seriously

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